CIRB 16-02

Secondary Event Prevention using Population Risk Management After PCI and for Anti-Rheumatic Medications (SEPPRMACI-ARM)

Funding Agency: Department of Veterans Affairs

(Note that the primary study is funded by VA HSR&D (95% of total budget) with a small supplementary grant from the University of Colorado Division of Rheumatology (5%)

Principal Investigator/Study Chair: Dr. Caplan

Ver.12

March 6, 2019

Abstract

Optimal treatment of veterans requires the consistent use of a number of medications. The failure to adhere to prescribed medication regimen results in higher health care costs and poor outcomes, including greater rates of hospitalization across a wide spectrum of health conditions.¹

In the case of ischemic heart disease (IHD), for example, optimal treatment can require a number of medications to maintain or improve cardiovascular health. These medications include 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors ("statins"), beta adrenergic receptor antagonists ("beta-blockers"), aspirin, and thienopyridines ("platelet inhibitors") such as clopidogrel. Non-adherence to medications, however, is common² and increases the risk of subsequent adverse cardiovascular events (CVE; i.e., cardiac death, myocardial infarction [MI], unstable angina).³ Our pilot data demonstrate that gaps in statin refills (i.e., an indicator of medication non-adherence) occur frequently in the year following percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI). Similarly, for the rheumatic diseases, optimal treatment requires the use of Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (DMARDs), which are often used in combination. Non-adherence to DMARDs is also associated with poor outcomes in the rheumatic diseases.⁴

To improve medication adherence rates, <u>we propose to test a multi-faceted, targeted, patient-centered medication adherence intervention using a novel, modified stepped-wedge study design in two common and clinically important scenarios: 1) for patients with IHD following PCI and 2) for patients with chronic rheumatic diseases requiring DMARD therapy. By testing in two unrelated conditions, we hope to demonstrate the generalizability of our findings.</u>

This intervention will consist of: proactive real-time adherence monitoring of patients and targeting of individuals only when they have exhibited non-adherence behavior (i.e., if patients have not refilled their medication more than 4 or 7 days after it was due to be refilled). The intervention will employ a tailored, escalating-intensity approach which begins with some combination of personalized short messaging service (SMS) text messages and interactive voice response (IVR) telephone technology, depending on patient preference. Patients failing SMS and then IVR by not refilling their medication (or declining SMS and failing IVR) escalate to a trained research interventionalist (typically, a clinical pharmacist). The interventionalist will contact the patient and address adherence barriers based on the dimensions outlined by the World Health Organization (WHO) that are specific to each patient.

We will test the intervention on IHD patients who have recently undergone PCI–a cardiac procedure commonly used among IHD patients to improve the heart's blood flow. We will also separately test the intervention on patients seen for chronic rheumatic conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis and spondyloarthritis followed in rheumatology outpatient clinics. The intervention will recruit from four Veterans Affairs Medical Centers (VAMCs) with VA Cardiac Catheterization Laboratories (CCLs) and rheumatology clinics, while 12 sites with CCLs and rheumatology clinics will serve as usual care controls. This novel approach provides greater statistical power by supplementing the pre-intervention/usual care observation periods of a stepped-wedge design with concurrent usual care observation periods from 12 additional sites.

List of Abbreviations

IHD - Ischemic Heart Disease

CVE - Cardiovascular Events

PCI – Percutaneous Coronary Intervention

DMARDs - Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs

SMS – Short Messaging System

IVR - Interactive Voice Response

WHO - World Health Organization

VAMCs - Veterans Affairs Medical Centers

CCLs - Cardiac Catheterization Laboratories

PDC - Proportion of Days Covered

ICE - Incremental Cost Effectiveness

ICERs - Incremental Cost Effectiveness Rations

ACS - Acute Coronary Syndrome

CART - Clinical Assessment, Reporting and Tracking Program

RCT – Randomized Controlled Trial

CONSORT – Consolidated Standards of Reporting of Trials

CDW - Corporate Data Warehouse

MI – Myocardial Infarction

CABG - Coronary Artery Bypass Graft

VSF – Vital Status File

ICD-9-CM – International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification

CPT - Current Procedural Terminology

SD - Standard Deviation

ISPOR - International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research

CHEERS - Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards

PBM - Pharmacy Benefits Management

CITI – Collaborative IRB Training Initiative

DSMB - Data Safety Monitoring Board

Contents

Protoc	col Title:	5
1.0	Study Personnel	5
2.0	Introduction	5
3.0	Objectives	6
4.0	Resources and Personnel	7
5.0	Study Procedures	8
5.1	Study Design	8
5.2	Recruitment Methods	10
5.3	Informed Consent Procedures	11
5.4	Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	11
5.5	Study Evaluations	12
5.6	Data Analysis	20
5.7	Withdrawal of Subjects	21
6.0	Reporting	22
7.0	Privacy and Confidentiality	22
8.0	Communication Plan	24
9.0	References	26

Protocol Title:

Secondary Event Prevention using Population Risk Management After PCI and for Anti-Rheumatic Medications (SEPPRMACI-ARM)

1.0 Study Personnel

Principal Investigator/Study Chair: Dr. Liron Caplan - liron.caplan@ucdenver.edu

Principal Investigator: Dr. Michael Ho - michael.ho@va.gov

Co-Investigators: Dr. Tom Maddox - tom.maddox@va.gov

Dr. Steve Zeliadt - steve.zeliadt@va.gov

Dr. Keith McInnes - keith.mcinnes@va.gov

Collaborators: Dr. Anna Baron - anna.baron@ucdenver.edu

Dennis Plomondon - dennis.plomondon@va.gov

Colin O'Donnell - colin.odonnell@va.gov

Gary Grunwald – gary.grunwald@va.gov

Thomas Glorioso - thomas.glorioso@va.gov

Ryan Duong - ryan.duong@ucdenver.edu

Eric Gunnink – eric.gunnink@va.gov

Study Coordinator: Kyle Brees- kyle.brees@va.gov

2.0 Introduction

IHD and rheumatic diseases are both pervasive, expensive, and results in grave health consequences. IHD affects an estimated 15.4 million Americans ≥20 years of age—representing 6.4% of the adult population.⁵ The direct and indirect cost of IHD has been estimated at \$195.2 billion,⁶ with a doubling of cost projected by 2030.⁵ Similarly, the direct cost to the U.S. workforce for rheumatoid arthritis alone approaches \$5.8 billion yearly.⁷

<u>Widely-accepted national evidence-based guidelines support the use of cardio-protective</u> <u>medications to reduce the risk of adverse consequences resulting from IHD and DMARDs to</u> reduce the risk of adverse consequence in rheumatic diseases. For example, numerous

rigorously conducted randomized trials show that statins improve outcomes and reduce mortality in patients with established cardiovascular disease (i.e., secondary prevention),^{8,9,10} including those undergoing PCI.^{11,12} The use of statins and beta-blockers have been repeatedly demonstrated to be cost-effective in lowering CVE event rates, in part by their effects on cholesterol^{13,14,15,16} and blood pressure, respectively.^{17,18} Accordingly, the most recent VA performance measures and American Heart Association guidelines encourage the use of statins in patients with atherosclerotic disease; beta-blockers in subjects with left ventricular systolic dysfunction (ejection fraction ≤40%), prior MI, or blood pressure of 140/90 or greater; and clopidogrel following any acute coronary syndrome (ACS) or PCI with stent.¹⁹ The rheumatology literature provides similar evidence for the benefit of DMARDs in rheumatic diseases,^{20,21} and guidelines strongly endorse their use.²²

Unfortunately, non-adherence to medications is common, 2,23,24 and increases the risk of poor outcomes. Our 2011 national preliminary data from VA CCLs demonstrate that over 6300 patients experienced at least one refill gap of >= 7 days for statins in the year following PCI. The mean PDC for these patients was only 75%—below the PDC threshold of 80% that typical defines adherent patients, based on the empiric evidence for effectiveness of medications at this cut-point. Non-adherent patients were present at all CCLs without substantial variation in mean PDC by center, suggesting a global problem.

Systematic problems underlie and contribute to non-adherence to medications. Usual care of IHD and rheumatic disease patients is encumbered by systematic deficiencies including: passive monitoring (contact with patients only when initiated by the patient) and inefficiency (time-consuming patient-by-patient approach, rather than through population management). The proposed intervention addresses both the complex patient-specific factors (emphasizing forgetfulness and carelessness) and the systematic inadequacies using a multi-modal, escalating approach.

3.0 Objectives

- 1. To assess the effectiveness of a multi-faceted patient-centered intervention versus usual care in improving medication adherence as measured by proportion of days covered (PDC, <u>primary outcome</u>). This will be tested among IHD patients for statins, beta-blockers and clopidogrel in the year after PCI and among rheumatology clinic patients chronically prescribed DMARDs. Hypothesis: The PDC for patients in the intervention arm will exceed the PDC for the usual care arm by a 10% absolute difference.
- 2. (Secondary outcome): To determine the effectiveness of a multi-faceted patient-centered intervention versus usual care in reducing secondary CVEs (myocardial infarction [MI], repeat revascularization [PCI or coronary bypass graft], and all-cause mortality) among IHD patients at 18 months post-PCI and progressive erosive disease demonstrated on plain film radiographs in patients with rheumatic diseases (i.e. "radiographic progression"). Hypothesis: The rate of CVEs and radiographic progression will be 5% relatively lower for patients in the intervention arm compared with usual care.

3. (Secondary outcome): To establish the cost to implement and maintain the intervention, above the cost of usual care, as well as the incremental cost effectiveness (ICE; e.g. cost to achieve at 10% improvement in PDC; cost per CVE prevented). Hypothesis: This aim does not posit a hypothesis as the objective is descriptive. The available funding for this project limits this outcome to IHD patients (no rheumatic disease patients will be analyzed according to cost).

4.0 Resources and Personnel

Dr. Liron Caplan is the Principal Investigator of the study. Dr. Caplan will focus on the design, logistic, and analytic aspects of the study. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver - Grade 15.

Dr. Michael Ho is the Co-Principal Investigator of the study. Dr. Ho will focus on the clinical and design aspects of the study. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver - Grade 15.

Dr. Tom Maddox is a Co-Investigator for the study. As Director of the VA's Clinical Assessment, Reporting, and Tracking (CART) Program, Dr. Maddox will focus on clinical aspects of the study and recruitment. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver - Grade 15.

Dr. Steve Zeliadt is a Co-Investigator for the study. As a health economist, Dr. Zeliadt will focus on designing and supervising the cost analyses. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Seattle - Grade 14.

Dr. Keith McInnes is a Co-Investigator for the study. As an infomatician, Dr. McInnes will focus on the design of the texting and interactive voice response (IVR) telephone calls. Bedford - Grade 13.

Dr. Anna Baron is a biostatistician. Dr. Baron will focus on designing and supervising the analysis of the main outcomes for the intervention. She will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver - IPA at a level compatible with Grade 14.

Eric Gunnink is an Analyst. Eric will focus on executing the cost analyses. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Seattle - Grade 14.

Dennis Plomondon is a consultant for the study. Dennis will focus on development of the IVR/SMS intervention. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver

Thomas Glorioso is an Analyst. Thomas will focus on executing the randomization and analysis of the main outcomes for the intervention. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver - IPA at a level compatible with Grade 12.

Colin O'Donnell is an Analyst. Colin will focus on executing the randomization and analysis of the main outcomes for the intervention. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver - IPA at a level compatible with Grade 13.

Gary Grunwald is an Biostatistician. Dr. Grunwald will focus on designing and supervising the analysis of the main outcomes for the intervention. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis. Denver - IPA at a level compatible with Grade 14.

Ryan Duong is a Collaborator of the study. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data entry and data cleaning. Denver - Grade 2.

Kyle Brees is the Study Coordinator. He will have access to protected health information and will perform data analysis, particularly related to tracking of recruitment and data quality checks. Denver - IPA at a level compatible with Grade 7.

Local site investigators. The local site investigator (LSI) will be the Cardiac Catheterization Lab Director or Clinic Director at each study site. The LSI will attend the training session during which the research interventionalist will be educated and trained. The LSI will 1) serve as a local resource for additional training needs by the interventionalist, 2) provide local administrative oversite (i.e. obtain and maintain local R&D approval, and 3) guarantee the inclusion of the Patient information Sheet in the discharge paperwork for all local subjects.

5.0 Study Procedures

5.1 Study Design

This is essentially two concurrent 4-year multi-site cluster stepped-wedge RCTs that tracks each subject for 18 months. The RCTs are executed simultaneously in two conditions (IHD and chronic rheumatic disease) at the same VAMCs, with enrollment periods ("observation phases") of 6 months' duration. At the 4 intervention sites, which will be rolled-out through 4 phases (see Figure 1), subjects undergo prospective monitoring for med refill gaps, with deployment of a multifaceted, tailored program. The program assists veterans using SMS, and if necessary, escalates to IVR, and then to research interventionalists. The intervention will determine the specific reasons for non-adherence for each veteran and then, based on the individual's needs: facilitate drug refills, counsel patients on correct medication usage, simplify drug regimens, provide low literacy instructional

Figure 1: Study Design

	Ob:	serv	atioı	n ph	ase	
CCL#	1	2	3	4	5	
1						Traditional
2						
3						_ '.'
4						Design
5						
6						Additional
7						concurrent
8						
9						randomized
10						control/usual
11						care sites
12						
13						(novel
14						modification)
15						
16						

- CCL = Cardiac Catheterization Laboratory (number randomly assigned)
- \square = control period of observation
- = intervention period of observation

Each empty or full box represents a recruitment cohort of 30 additional subjects, on average.

materials, facilitate communication with providers for adverse drug reactions, and engage in conversation about changing non-adherent behavior Twelve control sites, matched according to PCI volumes & baseline adherence (median PDC), will deliver usual care.

Our investigation employs modifications to the classic stepped-wedge trial design by collecting data from concurrent controls/usual care sites (CCL#5-16 in Figure 1, as well as the rheumatology clinics at these sites) in addition to the typical pre-intervention/usual care observation periods (open boxes, CCL#1-4 in Figure 1). Because the infrastructure already exists to collect pharmacy data from patients treated at all CCL's, we are able to obtain this additional control data. Our statistical simulations suggest this will enhance the power of our study.

For the first clinical scenario (IHD), patients discharged after PCI at any one of the four intervention sites who fill at least one prescription from one of the three qualifying medication classes (statins, beta-blockers, thienopyridines) will be monitored for medication refill gaps. The monitoring will occur daily through automated queries of pharmacy dispensing data, leveraging the considerable infrastructure of the VA's Clinical Assessment, Reporting, and Tracking (CART) Program. We have already developed these queries to identify when patients will need to refill their medications, based on the most recent medication refill date and the number of days supplied, but have not previously incorporated this in a real-time intervention. In the current study, patients with a refill gap (4 days for clopidogrel, 7 for all other medication classes) will be contacted in a manner that allows for simple refilling of their medication, thereby addressing a common cause of missed doses.²² The intervention modality will escalate through increasingly more intensive components, including SMS (only if patient opts in to allow SMS during an initial IVR call), then IVR, then research interventionalist assistance (clinical pharmacist), then notification of Primary Care Provider or Patient Aligned Care Team. Further, in order to make study subjects' primary care team aware of a subjects' participation in the study, a note will be included in the participants' electronic medical record indicating their participation in the study.

For the second clinical scenario (rheumatic diseases), patients followed in rheumatology clinics with diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and spondyloarthritis who have recently filled at least one DMARD prescription will be monitored for medication refill gaps. The monitoring will occur weekly through automated queries of pharmacy dispensing data, as developed by analysts associated with the local pharmacy service. Since all VAMCs with Cardiac Care Laboratories also have rheumatology clinics, the rheumatology intervention will be conducted simultaneously with the IHD-intervention and at the same VAMC sites, based on the randomization assignment used for the IHD-intervention (described below). This approach to randomization is necessary because it simplifies an already complicated randomization procedure and allows for more efficiency by hiring interventionalists/clinical pharmacists at fewer sites than if the IHD and rheumatology site assignments are performed independently. The intervention approach (SMS, IVR, and pharmacist) will be identical to that of the IHD intervention, but with content adapted to DMARDs.

To protect confidentiality, whenever possible, study records will identify patients only by unique study number. The only exception will be the tracking database that will include the patient's name, SSN, and telephone number which will be used to obtain pharmacy data from the CDW following PCI and to validate CV events in the medical record. Access to the database and study records will be limited to research staff. All paper records will be maintained in locked file cabinets within locked offices. Electronic data files will be encrypted/password-protected and user-restricted on computers maintained in a secure environment behind the VA firewall per VA security regulations. All data will be maintained in accordance with the VHA Records Control schedule 10-1 (v.January 2016).

5.2 Recruitment Methods

This study will employ an approach to consent similar to SDP-179 Hybrid Effectiveness-Implementation Study to Improve Clopidogrel Adherence which has previously been approved by CIRB (CIRB Protocol #12-12) The study will enroll all subjects undergoing PCI or using DMARDs at 16 VA Medical Centers (conservatively estimated at n~300 subjects from intervention periods at 4 sites and n~2100 at control sites for <u>each</u> intervention: IHD and rheumatic diseases; n=4800 subjects total for both RCTs). These Medical Centers are all tertiary referral hospitals within their respective VISN and provide a full spectrum of cardiac and rheumatologic care services.

Recruitment/Consent for clusters (CCLs): The National Program Director for Cardiology, Director of the National CART Program, Chair of the VA Rheumatology Field Advisory Committee, and President of the VA Rheumatology Consortium all strongly endorse this proposal and have committed to assist with recruitment of sites. Over sixty CCLs/rheumatology clinics are available from which to select the 16 study sites, CCL and Rheumatology Clinic Directors will provide formal "site-level consent" --i.e. commitment in writing to institute the protocol--that submits their catheterization laboratory to randomization.

Recruitment/Consent for individual veterans: For the IHD intervention, following their PCI and prior to discharge from the CCL, patients at intervention sites will be informed of the study. This will be achieved through a written Information Sheet that is distributed to all patients; it will consist of an IRB-approved document explaining the purpose of the study and intervention details. Individuals at the intervention site will be given the information sheet and will be called by a member of the study team within a few days to see if the potential participant is interested in participation in the study. If the individual is interested in participating then the elements of consent will be reviewed at that time with verbal consent if the patient agrees to participate (Waiver of Documentation of Informed Consent and Waiver of HIPAA are requested). For the rheumatic disease intervention, patients will be informed of the study by receiving a written Information Sheet at the end of their regularly scheduled clinic visits and will be called by a member of the study team to undergo the same verbal consent process used in the IHD intervention group if there is interest in participating.

For the control group sites, a waiver of HIPAA authorization and a Waiver of Informed Consent for access and use of the data will be requested.

Randomization

<u>Unit of randomization</u>: In order to prevent cross-contamination of the intervention, a clustered design is being used with randomization at the level of CCL, rather than at the patient level. Rheumatology Clinic assignment follows CCL assignment; that is, rheumatology clinics at each site allocated to the same treatment arm (intervention or control) as the CCL at that site.

Procedures: CCLs Directors and Rheumatology Clinic Directors will agree in writing that their CCLs (and the associated rheumatology clinic at each VAMC) will be randomized to intervention or control/usual care. A two-stage randomization procedure will be employed. First, consented CCLs will be grouped with the most similar sites, in terms of baseline PDC and PCI volumes. Using the median PDC and median PCI volume for all consented CCLs, each site will be assigned to one of four groups: high PDC/high PCI volume, high PDC/low PCI volume, low PDC/high PCI volume and low PDC/low PCI volume. From each group of 4 consented CCLs, one site will be randomized to intervention and three will be randomized to control. In the second stage, the four intervention sites will undergo randomization to determine the order that sites roll-out the intervention, as is typical of stepped-wedge designs.

<u>Sequence Generation</u>: Randomly permuted blocks with four centers per block (matched according to annual PCI volumes and center PDC) will be generated using computer-derived assignments.

5.3 Informed Consent Procedures

For the Intervention sites, we are submitting a Waiver of Documentation of Informed Consent and utilizing a verbal consent processas described above. For the Control sites, a Waiver of Informed Consent will be requested.

5.4 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Eligibility for clusters (CCL sites): In order to qualify for inclusion in the study, CCLs must have performed 20 PCIs within the prior year (to ensure adequate study power). In addition, the Directors of the local CCL and Rheumatology Clinic must agree to institute the intervention if randomized to the intervention arm. CCLs and rheumatology clinics with on-going interventions to improve med adherence will be excluded.

Eligibility for individual veteran participants: Patients will qualify for inclusion if they 1) undergo PCI or are prescribed a DMARD; 2) are prescribed any of the following medications: a statin, beta-blocker, or thienopyridines (IHD intervention) and hydroxychloroquine, oral methotrexate, sulfasalazine, azathioprine, leflunomide, or tofacitinib (rheumatic disease intervention) [Note: as a study focused on adherence, we will NOT address the appropriateness of prescribed medications, which is an important, but separate issue]; 3) receive their care from the VA. This is defined by the presence of a VA-assigned-PCP in the year prior to PCI or in the year following PCI (IHD intervention) or in the year prior to or following index DMARD prescription (rheumatic disease intervention). Patients will be excluded under the following circumstances: 1) undergoing only diagnostic catheterization; 2) receive their index medicines (listed in item 2 above) from a non-VA source; 3) discharge to nursing home or

skilled nursing facility; 4) individuals with impaired decision making capacity, prisoners, or pregnant women, or the terminally ill

5.5 Study Evaluations

Data sources: Data sources for this project are described in Table 1 on the following page.

Procedural Outcomes/RE-AIM framework: To assess the potential for broader implementation of the intervention following this study we will use the Reach-Efficacy-Adoption-Implementation-Maintenance (RE-AIM) framework. Major items in the RE-AIM framework are mapped to specific aspects of the study, as described below.

Reach: Measurements of intervention delivery will be tracked by summarizing the numbers/proportion of enrolled subjects, number of excluded subjects, reason for exclusion and representativeness of subjects at intervention sites compared to a) control sites and b) the national population of veterans receiving PCIs or DMARDs.

Table 1: Data sources

Source	Data/Variables
Clinical Assessment Reporting and Tracking (CART)	Indication for PCI (ACS/non-ACS), demographic data (age, gender), IHD risk factors
Pharmacy Benefits Management (PBM)	National drug price data, Proportion of Days Covered for target medication classes
VA Vital Status File (VSF)	CV events
VA's Corporate Data Warehouse (Inpatient, Outpatient, Pharmacy, Vital Signs, Laboratory production domains)	CV events IHD and rheumatic disease risk factors (e.g. diabetes, hypercholesterolemia for IHD; smoking for rheumatic diseases)
IVR technology database and clinical pharmacists	Veterans' preferences for various communication modalities CV events outside the VA system PHQ-9 and GAD-7 results. Training time for staff Research interventionalist (clinical pharmacist) time to administer interventions, reasons for non-adherence, and specific actions taken to ameliorate non-adherence
VA Electronic Medical Record (CPRS, CAPRI, VistaWeb) containing annual radiographs	Presence of radiographic progression

<u>Efficacy</u>: The primary measures of efficacy appear below for Aims 1-2 under the sub-title "Outcomes" (page 13). We will also perform a sub-analysis specifying the incremental benefit (% adherence achieved) for each intervention component. As a descriptive study, Aim 3 does not include measures of Efficacy.

Adoption: We will report the absolute number, proportion, and representativeness of CCLs and rheumatology clinics willing to initiate the program.

<u>Implementation</u>: At least 3 procedures will assess the fidelity of the study execution and intervention protocol at both the level of CCLs/rheumatology clinics and individual subjects, including:

- 1. Site visits to intervention CCLs/rheumatology clinics by the study PIs or study coordinator occurring annually to monitor study documentation and performance of the intervention.
- 2. Centralized enrollment monitoring consisting of monthly downloads of PCI procedural volumes using CART data or DMARDs using CDW for intervention and control sites and comparison of volumes with each CCL or rheumatology clinic's historical volumes. Numbers of SMS, IVR, and research interventionalist activities will be complied each month using centralized tracking software compared to PCI and DMARD volumes to gauge use of the intervention. External sites will enter data using secure logins. Specifically, they will employ user-restricted remote access from their VA workstation to the research server located at the Denver VAMC which contains the data. All of this will occur behind the VA firewall.
- 3. Assessment of research interventionalists' performance will be done by having a mock patient contact each interventionalist every 3 months. The mock patient will be the study coordinator. The study coordinator will describe a real-world barrier to adherence and the interventionalists' actions will be reviewed. Research interventionalists will be unaware of which patients serve in the capacity (to avoid the "Hawthorne effect" and the barrier described will vary over the course of the study, such that all domains of the WHO framework are represented.

Maintenance: The PDC effect size will be compared for subjects in the first 6 months after PCI and greater than 6 months after PCI. In the final 6 months of the project, we will survey the CCLs directors at intervention sites to determine whether they intend to continue the intervention after the study terminates and if not, the reasons for discontinuation. We will also assess the persistence of the intervention by reporting subjects' PDC after the 18 month active intervention period for a period up to 3 years post-PCI, until the termination of the last observation period.

Outcomes:

Determination of outcome for Aim 1 (Proportion of Days Covered, PDC) The PDC for the targeted medication classes will be calculated for patients with any 4 day (clopidogrel) or 7 day (other medication classes) gap at both intervention and control sites using Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW) pharmacy files that are regularly exported into the CART system (i.e. an intention to treat analysis) and available to analysts affiliated with the principal investigator. Thus, if the median PDC from all control observation periods was 75%, then a median PDC of 85% from intervention periods would meet the primary end point (85-75=10). PDC is a measure of med adherence based on fill dates and days' supply for each fill of a prescription that adjusts for overlapping scripts. The PDC provides logistical advantages over other measures of adherence in that it summarizes data from multiple medications²⁷, has established cut-points based on empiric evidence²⁶, and is endorsed by the Pharmacy Quality Alliance.²⁸

A historical data pull (including medication, labs, vitals, inpatient and outpatient visits) will go back three years to establish baseline comorbidities and adherence levels at each site. This data will only include retrospective information, rather than prospective results that reflect the potential impact of the intervention.

Determination of outcome for Aim 2 (CVEs for IHD patients; radiographic progression for rheumatic disease patients) For the IHD intervention, the outcome will consist of CV events including hospitalization for myocardial infarction (MI) or unstable angina, coronary artery bypass graft (CABG), or all-cause mortality at 18 months following index PCI. CVEs will be reported as a cumulative binary (yes/no) variable for each patient and will be censored after the initial post-PCI event. CVEs will be identified through a number of mechanisms: 1) case finding based on administratively coded data derived from the VA's CDW; 2) search of CART records; 3) queries of the VA Vital Status File (VSF); 4) keyword text searches via the VA's national electronic medical record-based interface (i.e. VISTA CAPRI)), and 5) an IVR call placed at the end of the observation period to the patient's home to identify CVE's not occurring in the VA system.. The administrative data queries will search for *International Classification of Diseases*, 9th and 10th Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) diagnostic codes, and Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes in these data sources (see Table 2). We have previously published on the validation of these coding algorithm approaches. The coding for each event will be based on previously published algorithms, which we have validated.^{29,30}

Table 2: Coding algorithms used in present study for definition of CV event and related comorbidity

Outcome	Reference	ICD-9-CM and CPT codes Cost								
MI	31 32	410.x	411.x	412.x	413.x	414.x	429.2	v45.81		\$29800 ^{33,34}
PCI	37	36.01	36.02	36.05	36.06	36.07	36.09	0.66	99.10	\$10000 ^{35,36}
CABG	37	36.1x								\$45,358 ³⁸
ICD-9-CM=International Classification of Disease-9; CPT=Current Procedural Terminology; MI=myocardial										
infarction; PCI=percutaneous coronary intervention; CABG=coronary artery bypass graft.										

We rationalized our choice of outcome time interval (18 months observation period), based on the fact that the benefits of aggressive medical management can become apparent in a relatively short interval.³⁹

For the rheumatic disease interventions, patients' regular annual radiographs will be classified by a rheumatologist blinded to group assignment as either "progressive erosive disease" compared with most recent baseline plain film radiographs or "stable". This assessment will be based on the appearance of new boney erosions or worsening severity of existing boney erosions. This assessment, based on chart reviews, will be determined for a random sampling of 100 intervention subjects and 100 control subjects with rheumatic diseases.

Sensitivity analyses will assess the potential impact of CVEs or radiographic progression not captured by VA data sources due to deaths occurring outside the health system and the results at 18-24 months following index PCI or DMARD prescription for patients with available follow-up.

<u>Exploratory outcome</u>: Depression and anxiety will be assessed in a random sampling of 100 intervention subjects for each clinical scenario (100 out of the 300 intervention IHD subjects and 100 out of the 300 rheumatic disease subjects). Specifically, the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) and GAD-7, administered via IVR call to the patient's home at the end

of the observation period will be used to determine if patients with more frequent texts, IVR calls, and pharmacist intervention are more likely to perceive themselves as experiencing depression and/or anxiety. Patients endorsing suicidality on any call or via the PHQ-9 responses will be immediately referred to the VA Suicide Prevention Hotline. The research coordinator or PI will call the patient directly and then, with patient consent, establish a 3-way call with the Hotline. All study staff, including interventionalists, will review the VA's National Mental Health Safety Plan as part of the study training.

<u>Determination of outcome for Aim 3 (Cost)</u> The cost of the intervention will be reported in terms of specific activity, which appear below (see Included Costs, below), as well as for the intervention as a whole (cost to implement the intervention per CCL site). For the purpose of determining the ICER, we will employ outcomes related to those in:

- **Aim 1**: cost to achieve a 10% improvement in PDC. This threshold was determined as "clinically relevant" by the practicing cardiologists participating in this proposal.
- **Aim 2**: <u>cost per CVE prevented</u>. While CVEs represent an exploratory outcome, the considerable expense of CVEs justifies their inclusion in constructing the business case for the intervention.

Details of the intervention: The intervention is depicted in Figure 2.

Figure 2: Intervention Flow Refill gap Begins with either IVR - Self Research Initial IVR Notify SMS or IVR (offer Generated* interventionalist* PCP/PACT* (depends on SMS) [4 to 9] [6 to 11] [8 to 13] patient preference **SMS** elicited in initial Prompt IVR call) [4 or 7] Refill gap "resets"; no Gray arrows denote the escalation of the intervention to a more intensive further intervention component in the event that patient is prescribed but fails to refill any of the until 30 days after last qualifying medications (statins, beta-blockers, thienopyridines for IHD gap began. intervention; DMARDs for rheumatic disease intervention.)

* Step that incorporates WHO Dimension-based actions (Table 3, below, page 16).

Numbers in brackets refer to the days elapsed since the most recent refill gap began.

IVR = Interactive Voice Response telephone technology; SMS = Short Messaging Service (texts); PCP = Primary Care Provider; PACT = Patient Aligned Care Team (inter-disciplinary accessible, coordinated, comprehensive, patient-centered care teams, managed by primary care providers); DMARDs = Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs

<u>Tailoring of the intervention</u>: This study adopts a holistic approach to the problem of non-adherence that recognizes non-adherence as a complex, multifaceted phenomenon best addressed by tailoring both the <u>content</u> (i.e. the underlying reasons for non-adherence unique to each patient) and the <u>intervention modality</u> (i.e. each patient's preferred means of interacting with the health care system). While IVR and SMS provide simple, rapid, efficient,⁴⁰ and novel

methods for addressing veterans' most common reason for medication non-adherence,⁴¹ the intervention also recognizes the complicated nature of adherence barriers, and incorporates an appropriately multifaceted research interventionalist-led component.

<u>Trigger to activate intervention</u>: We will obtain daily updates of pharmacy fulfillment data with computerized monitoring of this data to identify patients with refill gaps of 4 (dual antiplatelet therapies) to 7 (all other medication classes) or more days within 18 months following the hospital discharge of their index PCI or a randomly selected qualifying DMARD prescription. Specifically, for all eligible subjects starting on the evening following the index PCI or DMARD prescription, pharmacy data will be securely downloaded from local VistA pharmacy files into the IVR scripts and medication adherence software that we developed in prior studies. Since its deployment in December 2006, we have adapted this software to monitor med adherence using pharmacy data (including medication name, dose, dosing frequency, date dispensed and number of days supplied). In order to activate the intervention in real time, we will not measure adherence using medication possession ratio, as this is insensitive in the real-time environment. All subjects with a 4 or 7 day gap beyond the "date dispensed + number of days supplied" for any of the eligible medication classes—as detected by the software program that runs nightly will receive the intervention, escalating from SMS (if a preference for SMS was indicated in the initial IVR call), to IVR after 48 hours, to the research interventionalist, if there is no response from subjects after another 48 hours, and finally to the patient's Primary Care Provider (PCP) or Patient Aligned Care Team (PACT; inter-disciplinary accessible, coordinated, comprehensive, patient-centered care teams, managed by primary care providers) if there is no response from subjects after another 48 hours.

Intervention components:

- 1. IVR telephone calls will notify patients of the refill gap, provide patients with the opportunity to indicate the reason for this gap (side effects, cost of medication, confusion about how to take the medication), allow them to efficiently refill the medication ("If you simply forgot to request a medication refill and would like a new refill mailed to you, press 4"), and provide veterans the opportunity to receive texts in the event of subsequent refill gaps. If necessary, the IVR will facilitate contact with a research interventionalist to address adherence barriers. We have successfully employed IVR to address med adherence for patients following ACS.⁴²
- 2. Short Messaging Service texts will similarly notify patients of refill gaps. During an initial IVR call, those patients electing to incorporate SMS into their intervention will provide a mobile telephone number. For all subsequent refill gaps, patients will initially receive a text (rather than an IVR call) notifying them of the gap with instructions that simplify the refill process. Specifically, the text would provide the patients with the number to call into the IVR system and potentially connect them to a research interventionalist who would provide further assistance.
- 3. **Research interventionalist** engagement: For subjects who do not refill medications in response to the IVR call and/or SMS text, a research interventionalist located at each intervention site will call the patient and pursue a tailored strategy based on the WHO

dimensions of adherence barriers using actions supported by scientific evidence⁴³ (see Table 3). This theoretically-driven and comprehensive framework acknowledges that intervention strategies for individual patients must address the challenges and circumstances specific to each unique occurrence of a refill gap. Research interventionalists will follow an algorithm that determines which WHO dimension and adherence barriers are operative, and then pursue a course of action consistent with prior scripts we have developed for our prior adherence interventions, as indicated:

Table 3: World Health Organization (WHO) framework for barriers to adherence

able 6: World Fledith Organization (Wife) Indinework for barriers to deficience							
WHO Dimension	Adherence Barrier	Research Interventionalist Action					
Health system	Health system access	Facilitate refills/scheduling of appointments for patient					
Condition Mental health disorder		Engagement with PCP/mental health provider					
Patient	Forgetful	Initiate weekly SMS or IVR prompts/medication diaries/corrective feedback					
	Motivational deficits	Barrier Assessment					
	Educational deficits	Counseling on appropriate usage & self-care					
		Patient repeating back information					
Therapy	Regimen complexity	Conversion to extended release formulation/fix dose combinations Pill organizer/calendars					
	Adverse drug reaction	Communication with provider/Convert to alternate drug product					
Socio-economics	Low literacy	Encourage social support/distribute low literacy instructional materials					
	Cost	Referral to VA social worker					

Detailed description of research interventionalist actions. The interventionalist/ pharmacist will invoke specific strategies to circumvent the adherence barriers responsible for each instance of a medication refill gap. For example, patients with motivational deficits will be targeted for barrier assessment (assessment and response to individual patient barriers) with a focus on changing non-adherent behavior. These sessions allow the patient to identify, verbalize, and reinforce their own positive attitudes and perceived normative support contributing to medication adherence. The interventionalist employs techniques such as openended questioning, positive messaging, reflective listening, constructive feedback, and goal negotiation. As an additional example, patients who tend to forget to take medications would be encouraged to use a medication diary, involve a caretaker, or if necessary receive weekly SMS prompts. Based on data from out prior studies, most interactions with the interventionalist are 10-15 minutes in duration. Pharmacists may provide brief telephone consultation with a VA social worker or written remote consultation with the subject's primary care provider (per the C3P study, conducted by our center). Of note, pharmacists can generate CPRS notes and related orders, such as simplifying dosing regimen, which providers can sign if in agreement. Local resources and practices will dictate the specific interaction but in all cases interventionalists will have comprehensive contact lists for resources that the research team will assist in assembling. The interventionalist will mediate the activation of resources directly and follow-up within 1 week to ensure the barrier is addressed, rather than passively referring the patient.

Veteran Advisory Board (VAB) input: the recently established DiSCoVVR COIN board of 12 veterans receiving care within the Department of Veterans Affairs will review all materials (including text/IVR messages and interventionalist scripts) before they are adopted to ensure they are not intrusive/coercive.

<u>Period of observation for each patient</u>: 18 months (primary outcome), from the date of discharge following the index PCI or randomly selected qualifying DMARD prescription. Note that as an exploratory outcome, we will assess the persistence of the intervention by reporting subjects' PDC after the 18 month active intervention period for a period up to 3 years post-PCI, until the termination of the last observation period for that sub-group of subjects enrolled in the first 3 phases.

<u>Escalation Time</u>: 48 hours. This "fail time" is defined as the allowable elapse time between each intervention modality without a successful refill before escalation to the subsequent modality (e.g. patients with a 7 day gap are contacted via SMS; if no refill occurs within 48 hours, the IVR component is triggered on day 9).

<u>Quality Assurance Procedures</u>: Multiple controls will ensure fidelity with the intended protocol, including:

- 1. Detailed written manual of operation (essentially, this study protocol) for all components of the intervention, available via the VA intranet.
- 2. Standardized in-person initial training session for the project coordinator and research interventionalists, with annual teleconferenced refresher training session. Interventionalist training will use the approach and schedule of our prior studies, which budget 80 hours over 6 months prior to intervention initiation and 20 hours subsequent to initiation of the intervention. The co-PIs and interventionalists previously involved in med adherence RCTs have developed a curriculum covering adherence theory, medical knowledge of cardiovascular disease/PCI therapy and rheumatic disease/DMARD therapy, barrier assessment, and provides them with local contacts for ancillary services (social work, Patient Aligned Care Team), among other topics. Training is performed through a variety of forms including interactive small group instruction, mock patient sessions, and written reference materials.
- 3. Rigorous validation procedures for CVEs' (see Determination of outcome for Aim 2).

Details of usual care: Control CCLs and rheumatology clinics will perform post-PCI follow-up according to the practice standards currently being delivered at each hospital and their CCLs. In general, this consists of a scheduled appointment with the patient's primary care provider or cardiologist 2-4 weeks post-PCI. Similarly, control rheumatology clinics will perform follow-up based on routine care for any patients precribed DMARDs—generally routine visits every 3-4 months. Any monitoring for medication adherence is left to the discretion of the managing provider. For most providers, the identification of adherence gaps is passive and occurs after-the-fact. Patients resolve barriers to medication adherence by 1) discussing issues with administrative or clinical staff (providers, pharmacists, nurses) during previously scheduled appointments [or occasionally on a drop-in basis]; 2) contacting clinics and pharmacy staff on the telephone either directly or through a call center; and 3) sending electronic messages to providers and staff using the My Healthevet online patient portal. CCLs and rheumatology clinics in the control arm will refrain from participating in any other study or intervention focusing

on IHD or DMARD medication adherence during the period of planning or observation for this proposal.

Details of Aim 3 (cost analysis):

This is a prospective observational study to establish the cost to implement and maintain the IHD intervention, above the cost of usual care. This aim intends to encourage broad adoption of the intervention by demonstrating the costs required to achieve a 10% or greater improvement in adherence (Aim 1), and potentially demonstrate a positive return on investment from a net savings associated with reduced CVE rates (Aim 2) with the intervention. All costs will be estimated in 2019 dollars based on salary and drug costs at the end of the study. National cost data and Medicare price adjustors will be used to reduce the influence of regional variation in salaries and prices. Data for this study will be assembled concurrently from the multi-site cluster stepped-wedge RCT in Aims 1&2.

Setting, Perspective, Time Horizon: Costs and effort expended will be recorded at the 4 intervention sites randomly selected for Aims 1&2. All cost comparisons will include data from the full study sample at these four sites. Costs will be reported from the perspective of individual medical center intervention sites, since medical centers maintain budgetary and administrative authority over programs enacted at their affiliate CCLs and bear the long-term economic burden for non-adherent patients. We will employ a 5 year time horizon. Costs and effects will not be discounted because discounting is anticipated to have minimal effect over the relatively short follow-up period

Included Costs:

- 1. Implementation & training costs (fixed costs): Using methods previously developed in Seattle for implementation studies, 44 we will quantify the direct costs required to implement and maintain the proposed intervention. Specifically, we will obtain thorough and precise activity logs all effort and investment necessary to initiate the intervention, construct timelines that describe the implementation, account for evolving implementation efforts over time, assign costs to discreet implementation activities, and characterize the variation between sites for each of these items. These expenses will include primarily personnel costs for the planning purposes, interactions with technical consultants/staff responsible for SMS and IVR development, conference calls, training activities, and e-mail communications related to start-up. Data sources for estimates of costs and/or hours will also include e-mail, which will be collected and archived from projects sites, as well as the study listserve, according to established procedures that transform these emails into time commitments.44 Hours for all technical and staff member will be recorded and national GS-level and salary rates will be applied.⁴⁵ Nonpersonnel costs will include initial software licenses fees and hardware for the IVR and SMS systems and travel. For our primary analysis, we will average these fixed costs across intervention subjects. Projections of fixed costs for scaling the intervention will be based on estimates of projected patient volume in each CCL over a 5-year time horizon.
- 2. **Per-patient intervention costs.** Intervention activities provided by research interventionalist will be tracked for each non-adherent 7-day gap event after the

intervention is implemented at each CCL. Interventionalists will be provided with remote access to a centralized secure shared folder containing a customized database that includes an up-to-date listing of each non-adherent event. Interventionalists will catalogue all intervention activities from a pull down list of possible procedures for the duration of the study. For 2-week periods at the start of the intervention and at 6 month intervals, research interventionalists will also record the time (in minutes) required for each activity on the pull down list. Using the sample data for these 2-week periods, the average time per interventionalist per activity will be applied across all non-adherent gaps to estimate the time required for the intervention. Monitoring of completeness and quality of data collection will be performed centrally by study personnel through biweekly checks of the database.

3. Drug costs. Med adherence for statins, beta-blockers, and thienopyridines will be tracked for all subjects as part of Aim 1. Using national drug price data from the VA's pharmacy benefits management database (PBM), we will estimate the total drug costs for both control and intervention subjects for the 18 month study period from the discharge date for the index PCI.

<u>Excluded activities / costs</u>: Research-related costs and PCP time devoted to direct patient contact would not be included. For example, effort expended for acquisition of data, analysis of outcomes, and preparation of IRB materials would be excluded. Patient time and out-of-pocket expenses will not be included because of the organizational-oriented perspective of this study, in accordance with the parameters outlined by our operational partners.

5.6 Data Analysis

Power Analysis: (Primary outcome): Due to the modification to the traditional stepped wedge design, a simulation was designed in R to estimate power. Simulation studies were conducted by Analyst T. Glorioso, working in concert with A. Baron and A. Zhou (founding President, VA Statisticians' Association). We conservatively estimate 16 sites (4 intervention and 12 control), each enrolling 30 subjects per 6 month step, would assemble a cohort of 2400 patients (300 intervention and 2100 control), after accounting for a 15% withdrawal rate. These numbers would achieve 92% power to detect a difference in PDC of 5% and 99% power for a difference of 10% (75% increasing to 85%). These findings assume a within-site standard deviation (SD) of 1.30 and between-site SD of 0.16 on the transformed scale, based on existing 2011 CART data. Because of the multiple outcomes, we set the target two-sided significance test at a level of 0.01. Note that the number of eligible PCI subjects from these 16 sites should actually exceed 6000 (figures for 2012), providing a substantial recruitment "cushion", in terms of potential study volumes.

Analysis plan for Aim 1 & 2: Analysis of data will follow the approach outlined by Hussey and Hughes using patient level data. 46 To account for correlated observations within sites, unequal cluster sizes, and non-normal responses, the primary analysis will employ generalized linear mixed models to establish the treatment effect, after modeling time effects. Models will include terms for site (random, to account for correlation of patients within sites and to identify site-level variables), categorical time (fixed, to avoid confounding of intervention with time

trends), randomization stratum (fixed, to account for confounding caused by the PDC x PCI or DMARD volume strata), intervention variable (fixed, usual care vs. intervention, the effect of interest), and patient-level covariates. Due to left skew in the distribution of the continuous variable (PDC) caused by the upper bound of 1, a logistic transformation will be performed on this variable. Back transformation inference will be made on the difference in median PDC between intervention and control groups. No interim analyses are planned.

Analysis plan for Aim 3: We will assess the total intervention costs and drug costs for the ~300 intervention study subjects. Our primary analysis will sum the net costs for the intervention in numerator and compare those costs to adherence rates estimated in Aim 1. Confidence intervals for costs will be estimated using bootstrapping.⁴⁷ Our cost approach--which focuses on applying prices to intervention activities--minimizes the potential effect of imbalances in patient characteristics across intervention and control groups. To further safeguard against bias, multivariate linear regression models will be used to impute missing direct cost values; costs will be adjusted for any baseline socio-demographic differences between veterans during control and intervention periods.

We roughly estimate that costs of training/implementation are expected to be \$31,780 per site, increased costs of drugs among intervention subjects will be \$3,260 per site for each 18 month observation period, and costs incurred by research interventionalists to execute the intervention are estimated to be \$11,650 per site for each 18 month observation period. Thus, we estimate a total cost of \$46,690 per site to achieve a 10% improvement in adherence among 300 intervention subjects. The majority of the costs are due to initial implementation and will likely be considerably lower when scaled across multiple years and sites:

 $(Cost_{Training/implementation} + Cost_{Interv-per-patient} + Cost_{Interv-drug} - Cost_{Cntrl-drug}) \ / \ (\Delta \ Adherence \ rates)$

Exploratory Return-on-Investment: We will assess CVE (Aim 2) based on the 18 month study period. This analysis will allow us to estimate the potential cost-savings of the intervention and return-on-investment to VHA. For example, based on the average cost of CVEs (see Table 2), the intervention would be cost neutral if rates of CVE costing an average of \$28,300 were decreased from a rate of 10 per 1000/pt-yr to 8 per 1000/pt-yr through improved medication adherence from our intervention. Greater reduction in CVE rates would lead to a positive return on investment.

<u>Characterization of Uncertainty</u>: Statistical uncertainty in the cost and effect estimates will be modeled using nonparametric bootstrapping with 1000 replications, since this approach relaxes assumptions of the sampling distributions of the estimated cost or outcome.⁴⁷

<u>Characterization of Heterogeneity</u>: A table will convey differences in costs and cost-effectiveness resulting from socio-demographic differences between veterans, presence or absence of volume discounting, variations in medication and personnel costs, and variations in the effectiveness of the intervention.

5.7 Withdrawal of Subjects

For patients who decline participation, the patients' name, state, and the current date will be recorded by the project coordinator in a centralized password-protected list that is accessible only from a computer terminal behind the VA firewall. *Reporting*

Authority for monitoring data and safety will reside with the VA-mandated National Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) for multi-site interventional health services studies/randomized trials. The National DSMB will hold the PIs and other investigators responsible for data quality and completeness, safeguard the safety of all study participants, and ensure all ethical principles are respected. The PI will classify all suspected adverse events (mild / severe) and forward them immediately to the DSMB and CIRB. The principal investigator, Dr. Liron Caplan, will monitor for unanticipated, serious and related problems, and report them to CIRB, VA Research and the DSMB immediately. All other adverse events will be reported in summary format at continuing review. If CIRB or DSMB deems it necessary to disseminate information on unanticipated problems involving risk to participants, this information will be communicated to all participating sites PIs via email within 48 hours. This information will also be reinforced during bi-weekly teleconferences.

The completeness and accuracy of variables in CART are reviewed regularly by Program personnel. The biostatistician co-Investigator affiliated with this project will also conduct regular annual queries to ensure the integrity of the data, including evaluations of missing data and monitoring for outliers. The PIs will review recruitment and enrollment on a monthly basis to appraise the study progress and, if necessary, replace underperforming study sites.

6.0 Privacy and Confidentiality

Potential risks:

The proposed intervention is expected to pose minimal research risks for patients. There have been no reported adverse events with use of IVR or adherence interventions conducted by the assembled group of investigator in the past (rather, the increased surveillance may be a patient safety measure). A risk for all participants is the potential loss of confidentiality, a risk that is possible with all non-anonymous research and no greater than risks encountered in every day outpatient practice. However, based upon the mechanisms in place, this concern is very minimal.

No experimental devices or drugs will be used, minimizing the therapeutic risks of the present study. Because the decision to institute treatment (statins, beta-blockers, clopidogrel, or DMARDs) occurs prior to the proposed intervention (and is, in fact, an eligibility criteria), the physical, psychological, social, and legal risks are low. Nevertheless, this is a randomized trial and we will monitor patients closely to detect any problems posed by the intervention, and will follow all standards of the IRB and privacy (HIPAA) review and monitoring.

Measures to protect from risk:

Measures around patient tracking: To protect confidentiality, wherever possible, study records will identify patients only by unique study number. The only exception will be the tracking database that will include the patient's name, SSN, and telephone number which will be

used to obtain pharmacy data from the CDW following PCI and to validate CV events in the medical record. Access to the database and study records will be limited to research staff. All paper records will be maintained in locked file cabinets within locked offices. Electronic data files will be encrypted/password-protected and user-restricted on computers maintained in a secure environment behind the VA firewall per VA security regulations. All data will be maintained in accordance with the Records Control schedule and not indefinitely.

Measures for SMS/IVR: Our prior experience with IVR-based interventions has allowed us to develop systems that strictly protect patient privacy. No PHI is transmitted on outbound IVR calls, and we will continue to enforce this policy for SMS messaging. Rather, out-bound calls only employ generic terms and access to any PHI requires that the respondent confirm their identity using a patient-specific security code.

Measures related to Recruitment and Informed Consent: The approach to recruitment and consent is described in detail above (see Recruitment/Consent). Because our study 1) focuses on ensuring that patients are following the standard of care [i.e., filling and taking CV or DMARD medications as prescribed]; 2) involves no experimental medical procedures or medications; 3) relies on existing clinical data; and 4) does not pose a substantial burden beyond that encountered in patients' current health care setting, the risk to subjects has been classified as "minimal". In accord with this characterization and following the approach we established previously for similar trials, we are pursuing a waiver of consent and waiver of authorization for individual subjects through the IRB. In addition, we anticipate submitting this proposal for expedited review. The protocol will be reviewed annually by the CIRB and at the R&D committees at each participating VA site.

Based on our preliminary data indicating low PDC for the target medication classes, adherence to medications is likely to be poor and may place patients at higher risk of CV events.

As a workflow incorporated into existing clinical care, all patients at the Intervention sites will be provided an Patient Information form following PCI (IHD intervention) or when they leave the rheumatology clinic (rheumatology intervention). The Patient Informationform will include a telephone number for the project coordinator at the coordinating site that will allow them to ask questions and consider their involvement. A quiet room to consider the decision will be made available at each site. Each day, the central coordinating site will remotely screen the discharged patient from intervention and control sites for eligibility, based on their discharge medications listed in the electronic medical record. If the patient is ineligible (expected to be less than 5% of patients undergoing PCI and fewer than 10% of rheumatic disease patients, based on clinical guidelines and typical practice patterns in the VA) nothing regarding the screening will be recorded. If the patient is eligible, the project coordinator will tag the patient in the IVR tracking software. For patients who decline participation, the patients' name, state, and the current date will be recorded by the project coordinator in a centralized password-protected list that is accessible only from a computer terminal behind the VA firewall. If the patient indicates during the call with a member of the study staff that they wish to participate, the patient will be considered enrolled after verbal consent is obtained.

Measures related to staff training: All key personnel for this project who are responsible for the design and/or conduct of the proposed research have completed the appropriate training and continuation training for the protection of human research participants. In particular, all study staff will have completed Collaborative IRB Training Initiative (CITI) Course in the Protection of Human Subjects prior to initiation of this study. This includes a special VA module for investigators/staff working at VA sites. This initial CITI course includes HIPAA training and satisfies all IRB, VA, NIH and HIPAA requirements for research involving human subjects. Refresher training certificates will be updated as necessary throughout the study (per CITI and IRB requirements). Initial and refresher certificates of completion are kept in the IRB offices at all participating sites, with duplicate certificates documenting completion of initial and refresher courses kept by the project coordinator at the coordinating site (Denver VAMC). Reminders will be distributed to staff when refresher course completion is warranted. Written assurances will be obtained from all members of the research team mandating that the PHI will not be reused or disclosed to any other person or entity, except as required by law. Study staff will be required to certify that they have read the manual of operations yearly.

In addition to having the approval of the VA IRB and Research & Development (R&D) committees at participating sites, this research will require approval from the CART Research & Publications Committee. Participating site R&D approvals will be kept by the project coordinator at the coordinating site (Denver VAMC).

7.0 Communication Plan

We will notify all engaged participating sites of any changes in the study documents. As soon as we receive the approved documents, we will distribute them to all the participating sites. We will send an e-mail notification to the Facility Directors of all facilities involved to notify them that they are part of the study and we will evaluate their PCI data. Documents will be obtained to ensure that all participating sites are following VA information security policies. We will communicate study events to all participating sites during regularly scheduled conference calls. All non-compliance events will be reviewed and reported accordingly to the VA.

8.0 Relevance to Veterans

Execution of the intervention will have important ramifications for veterans' wellness. First, the intervention may directly improve veterans' quality of care, leading to better outcomes. Second, it will reinforce the importance of managing their IHD—a condition of widespread relevance to veterans. Third, the intervention will be responsive to veterans by assisting them in a proactive manner. Our system has the potential to make Veterans feel heard by proactively addressing adherence barriers, rather than placing the responsibility and burden entirely upon the patient to overcome obstacles and navigate the health care system. Fourth, the intervention provides a template for effective management of numerous similar clinical situations in which a procedure identifies high-risk individuals and requires med adherence to prevent recurrence or exacerbation of a serious condition. For example, in patients with an endoscopy that reveals a peptic ulcer; monitoring proton pump inhibitors adherence might avert recurrent bleeding ulcers. Thus, this proposal will hone our understanding of the risks for long-term untoward outcomes

following procedures, using some of the most common procedures for some of the most common diseases within the VA.

9.0 References

Sakal MC MaC

States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011;123:933–944.

- ⁶ Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, et. al; American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2013 Jan 1;127(1):e6-e245.
- ⁷ Kleinman NL, Cifaldi MA, Smeeding JE, Shaw JW, Brook RA. Annual incremental health benefit costs and absenteeism among employees with and without rheumatoid arthritis. J Occup Environ Med. 2013;55(3):240-4.
- 8 4S Randomized trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease. Lancet. 1994;344:1383–1389
- ⁹ Sacks FM, Pfeffer MA, Moye LA, et al. The effect of pravastatin on coronary events after myocardial infarction in patients with average cholesterol levels. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:1001–1009.
- ¹⁰ LIPID Study Group. Prevention of cardiovascular events and death with pravastatin in patients of coronary heart disease and a board range of initial cholesterol levels. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:1349–1357.
- ¹¹ Gibson CM, Pride YB, Hochberg CP, et al. Effect of intensive statin therapy on clinical outcomes among patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention for acute coronary syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 54:2290 –2295.
- ¹² Serruys PWJC et al. for the LIPS Investigators. Fluvastatin for prevention of cardiac events following successful first percutaneous coronary intervention: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002 Jun 26; 287:3215-22.
- ¹³ Peura P, Martikainen J, Soini E, Hallinen T, Niskanen L. Costeffectiveness of statins in the prevention of coronary heart disease events in middle-aged Finnish men. Curr Med Res Opin 2008; 24:1823-1832.
- ¹⁴ Taylor DC, Pandya A, Thompson D, et al. Cost-effectiveness of intensive atorvastatin therapy in secondary cardiovascular prevention in the United Kingdom, Spain, and Germany, based on the Treating to New Targets study The European journal of health economics: HEPAC: Health economics in prevention and care 2009; 10:255-265.
- ¹⁵ Chaplin S, Scuffham PA, Alon M, Van den Boom G. Secondary prevention after PCI: the cost-effectiveness of statin therapy in the Netherlands. Neth Heart J 2004; 12(7-8):331–336.
- ¹⁶ Reckless J. Cost-effectiveness of statins. Curr Opin Lipidology 2000; 11:351-356.
- ¹⁷ Cowper PA, DeLong ER, Whellan DJ, et al. Economic effects of beta-blocker therapy in patients with heart failure ☆ The American Journal of Medicine, Volume 116, Issue 2, 15 January 2004, Pages 104–111.
- ¹⁸ Olsson G, Levin LA, Rehnqvist N. Economic consequences of postinfarction prophylaxis with beta blockers: cost effectiveness of metoprolol. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1987 Feb 7;294(6568):339-42.
- ¹⁹ Smith, Jr SC, Benjamin EJ, Bonow RO, et al AHA/ACCF Guideline: AHA/ACCF Secondary Prevention and Risk Reduction Therapy for Patients With Coronary and Other Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease: 2011 Update: A Guideline From the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology Foundation. Circulation. 2011;124:2458-2473

¹ Sokol MC, McGuigan KA, Verbrugge RR, Epstein RS. Impact of medication adherence on hospitalization risk and health care cost. Med Care.2005;43:521-30.

² Ho P, Bryson C, Rumsfeld J: Medication adherence: its importance in cardiovascular outcomes. Circulation 2009, 119(23):3028.

³ Grines CL, Bonow RO, Casey DE, Jr., et al. Prevention of premature discontinuation of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with coronary artery stents: a science advisory from the American Heart Association, American College of Cardiology, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, American College of Surgeons, and American Dental Association, with representation from the American College of Physicians. Circulation 2007, 115(6):813-818.

⁴ Cannon GW, Sauer BC, Hayden CL, Ying J, Curtis JR, Reimold AM, Caplan L, Kerr GS, Richards JS, Johnson DS, Mikuls TR. Merging Veterans Affairs Rheumatoid Arthritis registry and pharmacy data to assess methotrexate adherence and disease activity in clinical practice. Arthritis Care Res. 2011 Dec; 63(12):1680-90

⁵ Heidenreich PA, Trogdon JG, Khavjou OA, et al. Forecasting the future of cardiovascular disease in the United

- ²⁰ Alonso-Ruiz A, Pijoan JI, Ansuategui E, Urkaregi A, Calabozo M, Quintana A. Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Drugs in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Systematic Review and Metaanalysis of Efficacy and Safety. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 2008: 9: 52.
- Donahue KE, Gartlehner G, Jonas DE, et al. Systematic Review: Comparative Effectiveness and Harms of Disease-Modifying Medications for Rheumatoid Arthritis. Ann Intern Med 2008; 148: 124-134
 Smolen JS, Landewé R, Breedveld FC, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2013 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73:492-509
- ²³ Neugaard BI, Priest JL, Burch SP, et al. Quality of care for veterans with chronic diseases: performance on quality indicators, medication use and adherence, and health care utilization. Popul Health Manag. 2011 Apr;14(2):99-106.
- ²⁴ Jackevicius CA, Mamdani M, Tu JV. Adherence with statin therapy in elderly patients with and without acute coronary syndromes. JAMA 2002;288:462-467
- ²⁵ Ho PM, Tsai TT, Maddox TM, et al. Delays in filling clopidogrel prescription after hospital discharge and adverse outcomes after drug-eluting stent implantation. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2010 May;3(3):261-6.
- ²⁶ Karve S, Cleves MA, Helm M, Hudson TJ, West DS, Martin BC. Good and poor adherence: optimal cut-point for adherence measures using administrative claims data.Curr Med Res Opin. 2009 Sep;25(9):2303-10.
- ²⁷ Choudhry NK, et al. Measuring Concurrent Adherence to Multiple Related Medications. Am J Managed Care. 2009;15:457-464.
- ²⁸ Nau DP. Proportion of Days Covered (PDC) as a Preferred Method of Measuring Medication Adherence [Monograph]. Pharmacy Quality Alliance. Accessed [10/14/13]: http://pqaalliance.org/resources/adherence.asp
- ²⁹ Pittman CB, Davis LA, Zeringue AL, Caplan L, et al. An observational study of acute myocardial infarction among fracture patients receiving bisphosphonate therapy. Mayo Clin Proc. 2013 (Accepted) ³⁰ Davis LA, Mann A, Cannon GW, Mikuls TR, Reimold AM, Caplan L. Validation of diagnostic and procedural codes for identification of acute cardiovascular events in US veterans with rheumatoid arthritis. eGEMs (Generating Evidence & Methods to improve patient outcomes) 2013; 1(3), article 8. DOI: 10.13063/2327-9214.1023. ISSN: 2327-9214. Accessible at: http://repository.academyhealth.org/egems/vol1/iss3/8/
- ³¹ Birman-Deych, E, Waterman, AD, Yan, Y et al. Accuracy of ICD-9-CM codes for identifying cardiovascular and stroke risk factors. Medical Care 2005;43:480-485.
- ³² Rosamond, WD, Chambless, LE, Sorlie, PD et al. Trends in the sensitivity, positive predictive value, false-positive rate, and comparability ratio of hospital discharge diagnosis codes for acute myocardial infarction in four US communities, 1987-2000. American Journal of Epidemiology 2004;160:1137-1146.
- ³³ Guijing Wang, Zefeng Zhang, Carma Ayala, Diane Dunet and Jing Fang (2013). Costs of Hospitalizations with a Primary Diagnosis of Acute Myocardial Infarction Among Patients Aged 18-64 Years in the United States, Ischemic Heart Disease, Dr. David Gaze (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-51-0993-8, InTech, DOI: 10.5772/53499.
- ³⁴ Kauf TL, Velazquez EJ, Crosslin DR, et al. The cost of acute myocardial infarction in the new millennium: evidence from a multinational registry. Am Heart J. 2006 Jan;151(1):206-12.
- ³⁵ Weintraub WS, Boden WE, Zhang Z, et al. Dept. VA Cooperative Studies Program No. 424 (COURAGE Trial). Cost-effectiveness of percutaneous coronary intervention in optimally treated stable coronary patients. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2008 Sep;1(1):12-20.
- ³⁶ Fearon WF, Shilane D, Pijls NH, et al. (FAME 2) Investigators. Cost-effectiveness of percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with stable coronary artery disease and abnormal fractional flow reserve. Circulation. 2013 Sep 17;128(12):1335-40.
- ³⁷ Nallamothu, BK, Lu, X, Vaughan-Sarrazin, MS, and Cram, P. Coronary revascularization at specialty cardiac hospitals and peer general hospitals in black Medicare beneficiaries. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2008;1:116-122.
- ³⁸ John D. Birkmeyer, Cathryn Gust, Onur Baser, Justin B. Dimick, Jason M. Sutherland, and Jonathan S. Skinner Medicare Payments for Common Inpatient Procedures: Implications for Episode-Based Payment Bundling. HSR

³⁹ Cannon CP, Braunwald E, McCabe CH et al. Intensive versus moderate lipid lowering with statins after acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2004; 350:1495-1504.

⁴⁰ Schedlbauer A, Davies P, Fahey T. Interventions to improve adherence to lipid lowering medication. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2010, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD004371. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004371.pub3.

- ⁴¹ Echt KV. Medication use crisis. Presentation of unpublished data to VA Patient Care Services, 5/8/12. Efficacy of Visually Impaired Veterans' Medication Management Strategies Study (VA Rehabilitation R&D Service Merit C4659R)
- ⁴² Magid DJ, Ho PM, Olson KL, et al. A multimodal blood pressure control intervention in 3 healthcare systems. Am J Manag Care. 2011 Apr;17(4):e96-103.
- ⁴³ Sabaté E. Adherence to Long-Term Therapies. Evidence for Action. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2003. URL not provided, per instructions.
- Liu CF, Rubenstein LV, Kirchner JE, Fortney JC, Perkins MW, Ober SK, Pyne JM, Chaney EF.
 Organizational cost of quality improvement for depression care. Health Serv Res. 2009 Feb;44(1):225-44.
 Smith MW, Velez JP. A guide to estimating wages of VHA employees. Technical Report 12. Menlo Park, CA: Health Economics Resource Center, HSR&D, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs. July, 2004.
 Hussey MA, Hughes JP. Design and analysis of stepped wedge cluster randomized trials. Contemp Clin Trials 2007; 28:182-191.
- ⁴⁷ Briggs AH, Wonderling DE, Mooney CZ. Pulling cost effectiveness analysis up by its bootstraps: a nonparametric approach to confidence interval estimation. *Health Econ* 1997; 6(4): 327-340.